1978

Keene Corporation v. R. W. Taylor Steel Company et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action based upon contract seeking the recovery of the purchase price of goods sold to Grating, Inc., plus attorneys' fees and interest under trade account guarantees between the plaintiff-respondent Keene Corporation (hereinafter "Keene") and defendant-appellants R. W. Taylor

Steel Company, Ralph W. Taylor and Lou Jean M. Taylor (hereinafter "Taylors").

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND
DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

In 1965, Grating, Inc. was organized for the purpose of marketing, distributing and fabricating steel grating products including steel bar grating by Ralph W. Taylor, its President and Chief Executive Officer. At this time, Grating Inc. entered into an agreement with Keene to become a distributor of its grating products. As a result, Grating, Inc. began and continued to purchase substantially all of its steel grating from Keene and continued to do so up until April 18, 1975.

On April 26, 1973 R. W. Taylor Steel, Ralph W. Taylor and Lou Jean M. Taylor entered into two agreements with Keene guaranteeing Grating, Inc.'s trade account with Keene.

Throughout the period of time Grating, Inc. purchased its grating from Keene and particularly in the later part of 1974 and early 1975 Keene represented to Grating, Inc. that Grating, Inc. was purchasing steel grating from Keene at prices as low or lower than available from competing manufacturers.

In late 1974 and early 1975 Grating, Inc. discovered that, contrary to Keene's representations Keene, had been selling grating to Grating, Inc. at prices well above prices

at which other manufacturers were selling the same products to Grating, Inc.'s competitors.

As a result of this discovery as well as other facts which are set forth in the Preliminary Statement Concerning Grating, Inc.'s Federal AntiTrust Claims on pages 8 and 9 of this brief, Grating terminated its relationship with Keene and on April 18, 1975 filed suit in the United States District Court, District of Utah, Northern Division (Grating, Inc. v. Keene Corporation and Harsco, NC-75-21) alleging that Keene and a competing manufacturer by the name of Harsco had violated the federal antitrust laws in their dealings with Grating, Inc.

Between March 31, 1975 and April 16, 1975 Grating received deliveries of steel grating with a total purchase price of \$66,674.16.

Because Grating, Inc. felt that it had been overcharged by Keene on these purchases as well as many prior purchases that had been paid for in full resulting in damages to Grating well in excess of \$66,674.16, Grating did not pay for these shipments.

Keene filed a counterclaim against Grating, Inc. in the federal antitrust action for the amounts of the unpaid deliveries and on July 31, 1975 filed this action against the Taylors as trade account guarantors of Grating, Inc. In

their answer to Keene's Complaint in this action the Taylors set forth several affirmative defenses, including defenses that the contracts for purchase of these unpaid deliveries were illegal in that they are in violation of federal antitrust laws and were therefore unenforceable and further that Keene breached its contract with Grating, Inc. in that a condition to the contract of sale was that Grating, Inc. would be charged no more than that charged by competing manufacturers for similar goods and that Grating, Inc. has a valid set-off exceeding the amount claimed by Keene.

On October 4, 1976 Keene filed a Notice of Readiness For Trial. (Record, p. 77). In response the Taylors filed a Motion to Stay the Proceedings until resolution of the federal anti-trust action. (Record, p. 78).

On December 30, 1976 the court ruled that the action would proceed to trial on all issues except the defenses based upon violations of federal antitrust laws. (Record, pp. 110-111).

On February 17, 1977 Keene filed a motion for Summary Judgment on the ground that as a matter of law antitrust violations may not be asserted as a defense to a contract action. (Record, pp. 128-129).

On June 28, 1977 the court ordered that its previous order staying a determination of the defenses based on

antitrust violation would be vacated and ordered that a pretrial conference be held at which time Keene's Motion for Summary Judgment would be heard. (Record, pp. 161-162).

On October 25, 1977 the court, after the pre-trial hearing, ordered that Taylors' defense based on violation of federal antitrust laws be stricken on the ground that they are not available as a matter of law and that the case proceed to trial on the issues of whether a condition of the contract was that Grating, Inc. would not be charged more than that charged other customers of Keene and whether Grating, Inc. would not be charged more than that charged by competing manufacturers. (Record, pp. 164-166).

On November 10, 1977 the court entered a further order granting Partial Summary Judgment in the amount of \$40,000.00 in favor of Keene, representing the agreed reasonable value of the goods sold to Grating, Inc. and dismissed the defense that Grating, Inc. would be charged no more than other customers of Keene.

The court further ordered that the case should proceed to trial on the single issue of whether Grating, Inc. was entitled to deduction because of the defense that a condition of the contract was that Grating, Inc. would not be charged more than that charged by other manufacturers of similar goods. (Record, pp. 185-188).

A non-jury trial of this action was held on November 29 and 30, 1977.

On January 13, 1978 the court filed a Memorandum Opinion in which the court concluded Keene had in fact represented and assured Grating that it was receiving a "competitive price" but these misrepresentations were a breach of a moral obligation and not a legal obligation. The court concluded that the law of sales and the statutes involved would not prevent Keene from benefiting from breach of moral trust. The court invited the plaintiff to prepare findings of fact and conclusions of law consistent with this opinion. (Record, pp. 189-192).

On January 24, 1978 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Judgment in the amount of \$66,674.16 together with prejudgment interest in the amount of \$10,334.47 and post judgment interest at eight percent was entered. (Record, pp. 223-225).

On January 26, 1978 Keene filed a Motion for Costs including a reasonable attorney's fee. (Record, pp. 198-199).

On January 27, 1978 the Taylors filed an Objection to Keene's Memorandum of Costs together with a Motion to Have the Costs Taxed by the Court. (Record, p. 205).

On February 3, 1978 the Taylors filed a Motion to Alter

or Amend Judgment and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (Record, p. 208).

On March 17, 1978 a Judgment was entered awarding Keene attorneys' fees in the sum of \$14,501.16 and costs in the amount of \$334.10 together with interest at the rate of eight percent per annum. (Record, pp.245-246). Additionally the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law relating to the Judgment for attorneys' fees was entered on March 17, 1978 (Record pp. 242-244) together with an Order denying Taylors' Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (Record, pp. 237-238).

On April 17, 1978 the Taylors filed an Amended Notice of Appeal appealing from the court's Order dated October 25, 1977, the Order in Partial Summary Judgment dated November 10, 1977, the Judgments and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law dated January 24, 1978 and March 17, 1978 and the Order dated March 17, 1978. (Record, p. 248).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the court's Order of October 25, 1977 striking the defenses based upon antitrust violations; a reversal of the Judgment together with Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law dated January 24, 1978; a reversal of the Judgment together with Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law dated March 17, 1978 and a reversal of

the Order dated March 17, 1978.

Further the appellant seeks an order remanding the case to the district court with instructions to stay all proceedings including any proceedings to collect the Partial Summary Judgment for \$40,000 until the completion of the federal antitrust action.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT CONCERNING
PENDING FEDERAL ANTITRUST CLAIMS

The critical issues raised by this appeal result from the pendency of an antitrust action in the Federal District Court for the District of Utah, Northern Division, entitled Grating, Inc. v. Keene Corporation and Harsco, NC-75-21.

Due to its relevance in determining these issues a brief explanation of Grating, Inc.'s claims against Keene in the federal action is warranted.

As previously stated, in 1965 Grating, Inc. became a distributor of grating products for Keene and has purchased substantially all of its grating from Keene from 1965 to April, 1975. Commencing in approximately 1971 and continuing until Grating, Inc. ceased dealing with Keene in April, 1975, Keene required Grating, Inc. to resell the grating products purchased from Keene to its customers at prices fixed by Keene and a competing manufacturer by the name of Harsco.

Commencing in late 1973, after the Taylors had entered into the trade account Guarantee Agreements with Keene, Keene began a series of price hikes, raising the prices at which Grating, Inc. was purchasing the grating products from Keene to levels well above the prices competing manufacturers were selling the same products to Grating's competitors.

At the same time Keene assured Grating that it was receiving a "competitive price".

In the federal action Grating has alleged that these price increases were an integral part of a scheme whereby Keene and Harsco fixed the price at which its agents and distributors, including Grating, Inc. could resell their product thus dividing the market. Then Keene increased the price at which Grating, Inc. would buy the products from Keene. The purpose of this scheme was to insure that Grating, Inc. would keep its relative share of the market but also insure that the profits would be passed onto Keene.

Additionally Grating, Inc. has alleged that Keene prevented Grating from purchasing grating from other manufacturers by conspiring with other manufacturers or suppliers to either not sell to Grating or to sell at prices at or higher than Keene's price to Grating, Inc.

As a result of these violations Grating, Inc. is claiming damages to its business in excess of One Million Dollars.

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN RULING AS A
MATTER OF LAW THAT ANTITRUST VIOLATIONS
CAN NEVER BE A PROPER DEFENSE IN A CON-
TRACT ACTION.

15 U.S.C. §1 states that "Every contract ... in restraint of trade or commerce among the several States, or with foreign nations, is declared to be illegal." Similarly, Utah Code Annotated §50-1-1 (1953, as amended) provides that "Any combination by persons having for its object or effort the controlling of the prices of ... any article of manufacture or commerce ... is prohibited and unlawful." And, Section 50-1-6 of the Utah Code declares that "Any contract or agreement in violation of any provision of this chapter shall be absolutely void." (Emphasis added).

During the entire course of this action there has been an antitrust action pending in the U.S. District Court of Utah, Northern Division, entitled Grating, Inc. v. Keene Corporation and Harsco, Civil No. NC-75-21, filed April 28, 1975. The appellants in the present appeal are the plaintiffs in the federal antitrust action, and are alleging in that action that Keene Corporation is guilty of a price fixing scheme which greatly raised the price at which appellant could purchase grating. If this allegation is found to be correct, then the contracts under consideration in this case would be illegal, void and of no effect since

they made up part of the alleged inflated price umbrella.

However, this defense of illegality and antitrust violation was stricken by the lower court in its Order of October 25, 1977:

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment insofar as it seeks to have stricken any defense or set off including the First, Second and Fourth Affirmative Defenses in the Answer based in whole or in part on the antitrust laws of the United States is granted on the ground that such defenses are not available to defendants as a matter of law. (Record, p. 165).

Ruling as a matter of law that an antitrust violation is not available as a defense was totally improper.

A. Antitrust Violations Have Been Allowed As Defenses To Contract Actions.

Although it is concededly true that "As a defense to an action based on contract, the plea of illegality based on violation of the Sherman Act has not met with much favor," Kelly v. Kosuga, 358 U.S. 516, 518 (1959), there have been cases which have held the defense to be perfectly valid. The reason so much confusion exists as to whether the defense should be allowed in a contract action was stated by one commentator: "Though a rose is always a rose, contracts are of different types, and antitrust violations take many forms." Sobel, Antitrust Defenses to Contract Actions: A Question of Policy Priorities, 16 Antitrust Bull. 455 at 456 (1971).

Keene Corporation, in its Memorandum in Support of Its Motion for Summary Judgment, filed February 17, 1977 (Record, pp. 120-127), cites a number of U.S. Supreme Court cases which have not allowed the defense of antitrust violation in a contract action. However, since all contracts and all antitrust violations are somewhat different, the cases cited by Keene and presumably relied upon by the lower court should be examined to see if they are controlling in the present case.

It would seem obvious that in order for an antitrust violation to be allowed as a contract defense, there should first be a violation. Yet in many of the cases relied upon, the court held that there was not a clear violation of the antitrust laws: A. B. Small Co. v. Lamborn & Co., 267 U.S. 248 (1925); D. R. Wilder Mfg. Co. v. Corn Products Refining Co., 236 U.S. 165 (1915); Dickstein v. Dupont, 443 F.2d 783 (1st Cir. 1971). Two of the cases relied upon involved violation of the Robinson-Patman Act which the court has made clear will never be a defense to contract actions: Bruce's Juices, Inc. v. American Can Co., 330 U.S. 743 (1947); Exxon Corp. v. Time Industries, Inc., 1974-1 Trade Cases, ¶74,926 at 96,146 (E.D. Mich. 1974).

In a couple of the cases cited by Keene in its memorandum, the contracts in question were held to be clearly

collateral to, and quite distinct from, the alleged anti-trust violations. In these cases the court enforced the contract to prevent the unjust enrichment of allowing a person to receive another's property without making payment therefore. Kelly v. Kosuga, 358 U.S. 516 (1959); Connolly v. Union Sewer Pipe Co., 184 U.S. 540 (1902).

There have been cases, however, with remarkably similar fact situations to the case under appeal here, in which the defense has been upheld. See Continental Wall Paper Co. v. Louis Voight & Sons Co., 212 U.S. 227 (1909); Marathon Oil Co. v. Hadley, 197 S.W.2d 883 (Tex. Civ. App. 1935).

In the Continental Wall Paper case, the plaintiff and defendant entered into an agreement whereby the defendant wall paper distributor was to purchase all of its requirements from the plaintiff for a price to be established by the plaintiff. The plaintiff was part of a combination which had been raising the price of wall paper in violation of the antitrust laws. The plaintiff delivered wall paper to defendant who refused to pay the inflated price demanded by the plaintiff.

In an action for the price of goods sold and delivered, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the defendant could validly raise the defense of antitrust violation, which would prevent the plaintiff from recovering the fixed and exces-

sive price. In so holding the majority declared that a court should not:

... lend its aid, in any way, to a party seeking to realize the fruits of an agreement that appears tainted with illegality, although the result of applying that rule may sometimes be to shield one who has got something for which as between man and man he ought perhaps, to pay ... 212 U.S. at 262.

The Marathon Oil Co. case, supra, was an action against the guarantors of an oral trade account whereby the buyer was to purchase gas and oil exclusively from the plaintiff seller and re-sell the product at prices fixed by the plaintiff. The court held that the contract violated the state antitrust laws and was thus illegal and void. The court further held that the plaintiff seller could not recover the price of goods sold and delivered from the guarantors when the primary agreement violated the antitrust laws: "The contract of Mrs. L. M. Hadley to guarantee the payment for purchases thereafter to be made by J. Hall Hadley was tainted with the same vice of illegality as that inuring in the original contract with J. Hall Hadley." 107 S.W. 2d at 886.

These cases show that under the proper circumstances a defense of antitrust violation is totally proper in a contract action. In the case E. Bement & Sons v. National Harrow Co., 186 U.S. 70 (1902), the U.S. Supreme Court stated: "[A]nyone sued upon a contract may set up as a

defense that it is a violation of the act of Congress [Anti-trust laws], and, if found to be so, the fact will constitute a good defense to the action." Id. at 88.

B. It Would Be Consistent With Public Policy To Allow The Defense In This Case For Any Alleged Liability Greater Than The Fair Market Value Of The Goods Sold And Delivered.

On October 31, 1977, the lower court heard argument on Keene's Motion for Summary Judgment, and granted Keene Partial Summary Judgment in the amount of \$40,000, the undisputed fair market value of the grating sold and delivered. (Record, p. 172). After granting the partial summary judgment, the lower court should have ordered the action for the balance of the alleged \$67,674.16 stayed pending the resolution of the federal antitrust action. This would have been consistent with the policies of preventing unjust enrichment and not having a court enforce illegal agreements.

A recent Law Review note outlined the two basic policy considerations involved with determining whether an antitrust violation should be a defense to a contract action as:

1. Whether either of the parties would be unjustly enriched by upholding or dismissing the defense; and
2. Whether dismissal of the defense would make the court a party to the illegality. Note, Anti-trust Violation as a Defense to Breach of Contract: An Expanded Policy Analysis, 30 U. of Miami L. Rev. 1053 at 1055 (1976).

In the present case, neither of the parties would have been unjustly enriched by upholding the defense after the partial summary judgment was entered for \$40,000, and staying the action pending a resolution of the antitrust claims. All of the cases which have denied the defense in holding or dicta have been concerned with the balancing problem explained by Justice Holmes' dissent in the Continental Wall Paper case, supra:

... the policy of not furthering the purposes of the trust is less important than the policy of preventing people from getting other people's property for nothing when they purport to be buying it. 212 U.S. at 270-271.

Thus, in deciding whether or not the defense of anti-trust violation should be allowed in any particular case, a court should balance the policy of not judicially furthering the purposes of the illegal trust or combination, and the policy of preventing unjust enrichment. Applying this balancing standard to the present case, it becomes clear that after the partial summary judgment there was no possibility of unjust enrichment--Keene Corporation received judgment for the value of the goods sold and delivered to Grating, Inc. At that point the policy of not allowing the courts to further the purposes of unlawful trusts should have become of dominant concern, and the court should have ruled that the defense would be available pending a determination in federal court of whether there was actually a

violation of the antitrust laws.

By not staying the action, and by awarding Keene Corporation the full \$67,674.16 plus costs and attorney's fees, the lower court was in a sense a party to the alleged illegal price fixing scheme of Keene. If it is shown in the federal antitrust action currently pending that Keene was guilty of unlawfully fixing prices, then the lower court here will obviously be a party to that scheme by enforcing a contract for the illegally inflated price.

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