1978

Keene Corporation v. R. W. Taylor Steel Company et al : Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

permitted as discussed next below.

(c) The District Court's Enforcement Of The Price And Quantity Terms Of Grating, Inc.'s Own Purchase Orders To Keene Corporation Which Are The Subject Of This Action Was Not So Clearly Intrinsically Or Inherently Illegal As To Make The Court Party To Enforcing The Precise Conduct Or One Of The Very Restraints Forbidden By The Antitrust Laws.

The U. S. Supreme Court has recognized a very limited and narrow exception to the assertion of an antitrust defense to a contract claim. The defense is permissible only where the intrinsic or inherent illegality of the contract is so clear that enforcement would make a court party to the precise conduct or to the carrying out of one of the very restraints forbidden by law. Dickstein v. Dupont, supra; Kelly v. Kosuga, supra, Small v. Lamborn, supra. As the Court stated in Kelly v. Kosuga, the test is that

... past the point where the judgment of the Court would itself be enforcing the precise conduct made unlawful by the Act, the courts are to be guided by the overriding general policy, as Mr. Justice Holmes put it, "of preventing people from getting other people's property for nothing when they purport to be buying it." 358 U.S. 520-521, 79 S.Ct. 432. (Emphasis added).

As far as Keene can ascertain from defendants' brief (pp. 15-18) they rely upon this narrow exception to the general rule.

In their brief, defendants set forth (pp. 8-9) a "Preliminary Statement Concerning Pending Federal Antitrust Claims" without any citations to the record. In this so-called "Preliminary Statement", it is asserted that the pending federal court antitrust action between Grating, Inc. and Keene involves a scheme whereby Keene somehow forced Grating, Inc. to resell fabricated steel grating at a price set by Keene which in turn permitted Keene to overcharge Grating, Inc. for steel grating at the wholesale level, i.e., to charge Grating, Inc. more than other manufacturers charged for the same product. Later on defendants confusingly assert that this is not the particular claim involved in the federal court antitrust action but, instead, that "...Keene was guilty of unlawfully fixing prices, --presumably of the steel grating it sold to Grating, Inc. (p. 17, Appellants' brief.)

Next, defendants claim that the "undisputed fair market value" of the steel grating in issue in this action was \$40,000.00. (p. 15, Appellants' Brief) Hence, conclude defendants, the lower court should have limited its judgment to that amount and should have stayed that judgment, as well as the action for the balance of the contract price, pending the

outcome of the antitrust action. According to defendants, this course of action would have balanced competing policies of the law by preventing defendants from being "unjustly enriched" while at the same time preventing the court from any possibility however remote of enforcing agreements which tangentially relate to alleged violations of the antitrust laws. (Appellants' brief, pp. 15-18.)

The argument is invalid for a number of reasons:

First, defendants are playing fast and loose with this Court if they are, in fact, representing that Keene and HARSCO, the other defendant in the antitrust action, fixed the price of the steel grating sold to Grating, Inc. so that the District Court's enforcement of the purchase orders and invoices involved in this case enforced the "precise conduct" forbidden by the Sherman Act. Defendants themselves proved at the trial of this case that Keene's price lists to Grating, Inc. and HARSCO's price lists to others were, in fact, very different. (Exhibit 16D containing HARSCO's prices and Exhibit 41D containing Keene's prices.) Indeed, defendants' entire criticism of Keene in this action is that Keene charged Grating, Inc. a price higher than charged by other manufacturers to Grating, Inc.'s competitors. Therefore, no possible antitrust defense can be permitted based on defendants' assertion of a price fix between Keene and HARSCO of the steel grating sold to Grating, Inc.

Defendants themselves have disproved such a pricing arrangement.

Second, if defendants are arguing that the federal antitrust action involves the claim that Keene was charging Grating, Inc. more than other manufacturers were charging their customers, no such claim is cognizable under the antitrust laws. Moreover, even if such alleged overcharge were linked with some other antitrust violation involving Grating, Inc.'s sale price to its customers, the enforcement of a contract for the agreed price of goods sold and delivered to Grating, Inc. such as reflected by the purchase orders and invoices involved in this action (Exhibits 2P through 9P) would not constitute the enforcement of the "precise conduct" or "one of the very restraints" forbidden by the Sherman Act. Obviously, it is not a violation of law for Keene to prove that steel grating was sold and delivered to Grating, Inc. at a stated price. As the United States Supreme Court said in Bruce's Juices:

...[plaintiff] can prove that cans were sold and delivered at a stated price. That is no violation of law. 330 U.S. 743 at 756, 67 S.Ct. 1015 at 1021.

Third, every case, both state and federal, which has interpreted Kelly v. Kosuga, has held without qualification that an antitrust defense based on the Sherman Act or otherwise can never be asserted to a contract claim if the contract involved is one for the agreed price of goods sold and delivered. In other words, all courts interpreting Kelly v. Kosuga have

concluded that the enforcement of a contract for the agreed price of goods sold and delivered never can be enforcing the 'precise conduct' made illegal by the Sherman Act. As the court stated in Warner Bros. Distributing Corp. v. Jerry Theatres, Inc., 1973-1 Trade Cases, Par. 74,578 at 94,551 (N.Y. S.Ct. 1973):

The defense of violation of the antitrust laws does not lie to permit a purchaser to avoid paying for goods or services admittedly received. (Citing Kelly v. Kosuga, supra.)

In Exxon Corp. v. Time Industries, Inc., 1974-1 Trade Cases, Par. 74,926 at 94,146 (E.D. Mich. 1974), the Court held that it was "settled" that violations of the antitrust laws could not be asserted by either a principal debtor or an unconditional trade account guarantor "where the plea has been made by the purchaser in an action to recover from him the agreed price of goods sold." Id. (quoting Kelly v. Kosuga.) In Viacom International Inc. v. Tandem Productions, Inc., 368 F. Supp. 1264, 1974-1 Trade Cases, Par. 74,866 (S.D. N.Y. 1974), the Court recognized that there was perhaps an implied exception to the rule that antitrust defenses could not be asserted on contract claims "where the judgment of the Court would itself be enforcing the precise conduct made unlawful by the act...." or where "the invalidity is inherent to the contract." The Court, however, held this implied exception could never be found in a contract for the sale of goods:

Such inherent invalidity may perhaps be found in resale price maintenance agreements, exclusion from territories agreements, group boycotts, or overall illegal schemes to monopolize. These are merely illustrative of what I take to be inherently invalid agreements. A contract for the sale of goods..., regardless of background, is not inherently invalid...[U]nless the act ordered by the Court is itself illegal, the contract is not subject to the antitrust defense. 368 F.Supp. at 1278, 1974-1 Trade Cases, Par. 74,866 at 95,859. (Emphasis Added)

In Crivello v. Four Brothers, Inc., 1976-2 Trade Cases ¶ 61,191 at 70,404 (E.D. Wis. 1976), an action for food, supplies and advertising expense, the Court held "the clear import of Kelly is the rejection of the plea of Sherman Act illegality as a defense to a contract action." Id.

Lastly, defendants claim that Keene would be unjustly enriched if the antitrust defense were not permitted. Defendants assert that if Keene received a deferred judgment of \$40,000.00 and its entitlement to the remainder up to \$66,674.40 awaited the outcome of the federal antitrust case, this would prevent Keene from being unjustly enriched. But at no time do Keene agree that the reasonable value of the goods in issue was \$40,000.00. The District Court entered partial summary judgment in that amount as its order reflects because defendants' Answer admitted the goods were worth that amount and defendants' deposition study showed they owed Keene at least that amount. (Order of Partial Summary Judgment, R. ¶¶ 186-187.) Without citation

the record on argument defendants seek a stay pending resolution of the antitrust case, not only for the difference between the agreed contract price and \$40,000.00 but also for the \$40,000.00 as well (p. 24, Appellant's brief). However, as previously indicated, the courts, including the U. S. Supreme Court, have already considered the balancing of the policies of preventing unjust enrichment while also insuring compliance with the antitrust laws. They uniformly have ruled that antitrust defenses are not available to contract actions except in the narrow situation where the court is asked to enforce the precise conduct made illegal by the Sherman Act. Thus, the courts have determined, as defendants recognize in their brief (p. 16) that the policy of not furthering the purposes of violators of the antitrust laws is less important than preventing people from getting other people's property for nothing when they purport to be buying it. Furthermore, defendants themselves most certainly would be enriched unjustly if this action were stayed in whole or in part and the antitrust defenses were permitted. It is undisputed that Grating, Inc. ordered, received, resold at a substantial profit and refused to pay for \$66,674.16 worth of grating from Keene and then immediately sued Keene for alleged antitrust violations. Thus, Grating, Inc. obtained a war chest at Keene's expense for prosecution of its antitrust suit. No clearer case of unjust enrichment could exist than to permit

defendants to obtain Keene's goods under the guise of purchasing them, refusing to pay, making large profits on the goods; resale and financing a lawsuit against Keene with the proceeds.

Defendants have cited only two cases where an antitrust defense has been permitted in a contract action, one in 1909 and the other in 1935. Continental Wall Paper Co. v. Louis Voight Sons Co., 212 U.S. 227 (1909); Marathon Oil Co. v. Hadley, 15 S.W.2d 883 (Tex. Civ. App. 1935) (miscited by defendants as 15 S.W.2d 883). In Continental Wall Paper Co., nearly all the manufacturers of wallpaper in the United States formed a corporation to purchase all their wallpaper supplies at prices fixed by them. These manufacturers then only made wallpaper available and only filled orders placed with the corporation representing the pool. All wholesalers who purchased the wallpaper were forced to do so from the pool's corporation at prices fixed by the manufacturers otherwise they could get no paper. If the wholesalers did not come into the agreement, the manufacturers could drive them out of business. In a suit for the price of goods sold brought by the pool corporation against a wholesaler who was a party to the price fix agreement, the U. S. Supreme Court voided the contract.

But nothing like this egregious set of circumstances exists in the present case. Grating, Inc. does not claim it was forced to become a member of an industry wide illegal price

fixing scheme. Grating, Inc. does not claim Keene was a nominal seller on behalf of other grating manufacturers in the U. S. Grating, Inc. cannot claim, and in fact, itself disproved at the trial of this action, that the price of the steel grating it purchased from Keene was fixed. The fact situation of this action, therefore, is in no way similar to the nationwide price fixing scheme in the Continental Wall case, where the defendant was part and parcel of the illegal agreement. Further, Continental Wall apparently has never been followed by any other court, including the United States Supreme Court. It has only been distinguished. D.R. Wilder Mfg. Co. v. Corn Products Refining Co., 230 U.S. at 177-178; A.B. Small Co. v. Lamborn & Co., 267 U.S. at 252, 45 S.Ct. at 302; and Kelly v. Kosuga, 358 U.S. at 520-521, 79 S.Ct. at 432. One eminent commentator has stated:

Although not expressly overruling the Continental Wall Paper case, the Court abandoned the distinction made there between contracts inherently illegal and those which are only collateral to the illegal activities. In Kelly, the Court held that the adequacy of antitrust violations as a defense to an action on a contract depends not upon whether the violations were inherent in the contract sued upon, but upon whether the Court, in enforcing the contract, "would itself be enforcing the precise conduct made unlawful by the Act." Von Kalinowski, Antitrust and Trade Regulation, Volume 15, §109.06 at 109-81 and 109-82.

Another commentator has stated: "Continental Wall Paper has never been followed in the almost 62 years that have passed

since it was decided." Sobel, Antitrust Defenses to Contract Actions: A Question of Policy Priorities, 16 Antitrust Bulletin 455 at 460 (1971).

Marathon Oil Co. v. Hadley, *supra*, the other case relied upon by defendants is completely inapposite to this action. That case involved the question of whether the antitrust laws of the State of Texas, not those of the United States, would void a contract. Based on Texas statutes, the contract was held void. But in 1961, the Court of Civil Appeals of Texas faced the same question involved in the instant case in Sessions Company v. A. Sheaffer Pen Company, *supra*. The Texas court, notwithstanding Marathon Oil, but relying on Kelly v. Kosuga, refused to permit an alleged violation of federal antitrust laws to be asserted as a defense in an action for debt for merchandise which had been delivered. 344 S.W.2d at 184.

The various law review articles cited by defendants are in accord with the overwhelming weight of the case law to the effect that the federal antitrust laws may not be asserted as a defense to an action for the agreed price of goods sold and delivered. "...[W]henver a plaintiff sued to recover the price of property rights sold and delivered, the defendant would not be permitted to raise alleged antitrust violations in defense." Sobel, Antitrust Defenses to Contract Actions: A Question of Policy Priorities, 16 Antitrust Bulletin, 455 at 467 (1971).

Defendants also cite Section 50-1-6. Utah Code Annotated, pertaining to unlawful combinations to control prices. This section was never raised as a defense by the defendants in this action nor has Grating, Inc. sued Keene under this section in the federal antitrust action. Defendants' reference to this section is, therefore, completely irrelevant.

No reason whatsoever exists to intermingle this action for the agreed price of goods sold and delivered with a pending federal antitrust action. This action has run its course and the federal antitrust action will do the same. Since antitrust defenses may never be asserted in an action for the agreed price of goods sold and delivered, there is no way that the facts in this case can be twisted to support a claim that a judgment in favor of Keene would make the State Court a party to enforcing the "precise conduct" made illegal by Section 1 of the Sherman Act.

POINT II.

THE DISTRICT COURT'S FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS THAT EQUITY WOULD NOT PREVENT THE ENFORCEMENT OF A CONTRACT FOR THE AGREED PRICE OF GOODS SOLD AND DELIVERED BECAUSE OF THE FRIENDSHIP OF THE PARTIES IS FULLY SUPPORTED BY THE LAW AND THE FACTS.

Grating, Inc. by purchase orders it prepared specifying quantity and price, ordered goods from Keene in the amount of \$66,674.16. Keene delivered an invoice in that amount.

(Exhibits 2P through 9P.) Defendants admitted this very contract for the agreed price of goods sold and delivered. Defendants' only remaining defense not waived by them or stricken as a matter of law was that Keene and Grating, Inc. orally modified these invoices and purchase orders by agreeing that Keene would charge Grating, Inc. no more than other manufacturers charge for the same goods.

After hearing conflicting testimony, the District Court found that Keene and Grating, Inc. did not agree orally that Grating, Inc. would be charged no more than other manufacturers but only that a mutual friendship existed pursuant to which Grating, Inc. sought and received assurances that it would be kept "competitive". (Findings of Fact Nos. 18 and 19, R. pp. 226-227; Trial Transcript R. pp. 274, 275 and 279, testimony of Ralph W. Taylor; pp. 331, 332, 333, testimony of Brent Cox; pp. 376, 399 and 400, testimony of Jerry McGee; pp. 405, 406, 407, 410 and 411, testimony of Theron John.)

Defendants, after quoting out of context an abbreviated part of the District Court's Memorandum Decision (and ignoring the District Court's Findings and Conclusions), argue for the first time on appeal on pages 19-20 of their brief that Keene's supposed failure to live up to its friendship with Grating, Inc. resulted in a violation by Keene of Section 70A-1-203, U.C.A. (1953), the section of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code:

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